FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/30/2020 11:02 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98119-1-II

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON, a nonprofit organization

Appellant,

v.

JAY INSLEE in his official capacity as WASHINGTON STATE GOVERNOR, THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, AND THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE, *Respondents.* 

#### **BRIEF OF APPELANT**

JACKSON WILDER MAYNARD, JR. GENERAL COUNSEL WSBA No. 43481

HANNAH SELLS MARCLEY ASSOCIATE GENERAL COUNSEL WSBA No. 52692

BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON 111 21<sup>ST</sup> AVE SW OLYMPIA, WA 98501 (360) 352-7800

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Governor overstepped his constitutional limitations by vetoing Subsection 8(1)(a) of Second Substitute House Bill 1579 ("HB 1579"), to the detriment of all those regulated by RCW 77.55 and especially homebuilders. The trial court found that homebuilders had not sufficiently proven they were harmed by the veto, making the case non-justiciable for lack of standing. This decision ignored the harm suffered by builders and the importance of the issue presented. This Court should reverse and decide the case on the merits.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Whether the Governor's veto of a subsection violates Article III § 12 of the Washington Constitution, which requires the Governor veto "no less than an entire section?"
- 2) Does the Legislature's use of contingent language linking separate topics in a bill constitute a palpable attempt at dissimulation of the Governor's veto authority?
- 3) Whether builders who are regulated by the law created through the Governor's suspect veto have the right to challenge the validity of that veto.

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Petitioner, Building Industry Association of Washington

("BIAW") is a nonprofit trade association that advocates for Washington

homebuilders at the Legislature and in agency rulemaking. BIAW's nearly

8,000 members are engaged in all aspects of home construction. CP 178.

The hydraulic permitting process in RCW 77.55 governs many BIAW

members because of their work in coastal areas. CP 180; See, e.g. CP 184-187. These members rely on a predictable, constitutional civil enforcement of RCW 77.55 to conduct their business. See, e.g., CP 184-187.

In 2019, legislation upended the civil enforcement program for RCW 77.55, undermining the predictability and constitutionality of that process. During the 2019 legislative session, the Washington State Legislature passed HB 1579 titled "Relating to implementing recommendations of the Southern Resident Killer Whale Task Force related to increasing chinook abundance[.]"Along with its strategy of increasing chinook abundance, HB 1579 was the latest in a long line of attempts to accomplish two goals: 1) require single family home builders to go through the same hydraulic permitting process as commercial construction and 2) increase civil fines. CP 52 (repealing RCW 77.55.141, which required WDFW "shall" issue permits for bulkheads for singlefamily residences); CP 44; CP 182.

While agreeing with the goal of increasing chinook abundance, BIAW has consistently disagreed with these other two goals, in part, because of the effect on building industry. BIAW's Government Affairs team has opposed both goals through several sessions, including 2019. CP 182-183. Government Affairs Director Jan Himebaugh has spoken with BIAW members regularly, in her legislative updates, about these attempts

and has consistently heard that these fines and the more stringent permitting process would make members' businesses suffer because of increased uncertainty and risk due in part to recent changes in law. A permitting process with uncertain applicability and high fines for misapplication deters potential clients. CP 182. CP 185-186. Despite BIAW's lobbying efforts, HB 1579 ultimately passed and hit BIAW's members on both fronts. CP 183.

The bill's path through the Legislature was not a simple one. On January 24, 2019, Representative Fitzgibbons introduced the first version of HB 1579, the original bill, to the House of Representatives. CP 152-156. In that version, the fines for violating RCW 77.55 were increased from \$100 per day to \$10,000 per violation. The original bill also repealed the existing fine authority. After being voted out of committee, the bill received an impressive 59 yeas and 39 nays on the House floor on March 7, 2019. *Id.* It was then sent to the Senate.

In the Senate, HB 1579 received its First Reading on March 9, 2019 and was referred to the Agriculture, Water, Natural Resources & Parks Committee. Senator Van De Wege, Chair of that committee, proposed an amendment that did two things. First, the amendment added Section 13 to the bill, which created and funded three suction dredging pilot projects. Second, it amended the penalty section of the bill, Section 8,

by making the original increase in civil penalties contingent on the enactment of Section 13. *Id.* Senator Hobbs supported the amendment, as he had proposed the suction dredging projects as stand-alone legislation two sessions prior. His bill passed in the Senate but failed in the House. CP 128-132.

HB 1579, as amended, passed out of the Committee on Agriculture and was referred to Ways and Means on April 2. The amended bill received a "do pass" recommendation from the Ways and Means Committee on April 8. On April 10, the day after the committee cut-off, the Senate passed the bill by a margin of two votes. CP 154; CP 475-476, CP 477.

As a result of the amendment, HB 1579 passed the Senate, but only by two votes. Senator Van De Wege, the amendment sponsor, and Senator Hobbs, who had proposed legislation substantively identical to the amendment, both voted aye. CP 154-156. On April 18, the amended version of HB 1579 passed again in the House, now with 57 votes. The amendment cost two votes in the House, but ultimately allowed the bill to pass both chambers. *Id*.

On May 8, 2019, Governor Inslee signed HB 1579 into law, but vetoed both Subsection 8(1)(a) and Section 13 of the bill. CP 37-53. In his veto message, the Governor directed WDFW to rulemake to implement

the original bill, introduced by Rep. Fitzgibbons, which had not passed in the Senate. CP 52. However, WDFW had lost even its existing authority to fine because HB 1579 also repealed the statutory language which had once empowered WDFW to institute fines. *Id. See, contra*, CP 428.

When BIAW learned about the Governor's veto, BIAW sent WDFW a petition for rulemaking consistent with the current language of the bill. BIAW requested that the agency (1) repeal Washington Administrative Code sections (WACs) based on the repealed fine authorization statute, RCW 77.55.291 and (2) disregard the Governor's direction to create fines without statutory authority. CP 122-124. In response to BIAW's first request, WDFW stated that, while repeal of the existing WACs was inappropriate, WDFW would not impose civil penalties based on the outdated WACs. CP 125-127. In response to BIAW's second request, WDFW disagreed that the statute, as vetoed, failed to provide authority for fines and stated the agency would go through formal rulemaking to create new WACs, allowing civil penalties, based on the text of HB 1579. *Id*.

The legal chaos that has resulted from compounding constitutional violations (first by the legislature in passing a bill which violated the Single Subject rule, then exacerbated by the Governor's subsection veto) costs BIAW's members whose businesses rely on construction projects

near shorelines.<sup>1</sup> See, CP 184-187. They know potential clients are intimidated by the threat of enormous fines, deciding to forego or postpone projects or improvements to avoid the potential for hefty fines. *Id.* Because HB 1579's fine structure makes the permitting process less clear and dramatically increases the fine amounts, BIAW members will lose more business. CP 182; CP 184-187. This risk is intensified by other changes to the permitting process not challenged by this lawsuit, but do create added confusion for homebuilders. They are unsure of what version of the law is enforceable and what fines they may face if they violate it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The declaration on which this statement is based was drafted prior to the COVID 19 emergency and should be read as a statement about Mr. Roberts' experience prior to the changes that crisis has brought.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

The Washington Constitution is both an empowering and a limiting document. For example, in Article III§12, the Constitution grants the Governor the power to veto sections of legislation, but expressly limits that power by requiring that the Governor veto no less than a whole section. These constraints on government are also rights for the governedespecially for those affected by legislation that the Governor illegally vetoed. Overstepping constitutional limits deprives Washingtonians of their right to a procedurally just government.

Governor Inslee overstepped when he vetoed less than a whole section of HB 1579. The vetoed portion, Subsection 8(1)(a), was less than a whole section in both form and function. The Respondents' briefing below does not contradict this textual fact, but rather argues that Governor Inslee was justified in upending the balance of powers because the Legislature had already, intentionally exceeded its own authority. This justification fails because it is factually inaccurate and because even if it were true, the Governor is not freed from his own constitutional constraints. The veto was unconstitutional.

The Petitioner has a right to challenge this unconstitutional veto. BIAW's members were better off before the veto, satisfying the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act's injury requirement. Even if this were not the

case, the Court should still decide the case on the merits because it is an issue of great public importance that has been adequately presented by the parties. The Court should decide the case on the merits by finding that the Governor violated Article III§12.

# A. The Constitution Empowers the Branches in a Balanced, Separated Way, For the Benefit of the Citizenry.

The Washington Constitution creates a balanced legislative power, designed to empower and protect Washingtonians. The Governor engages in the legislative process when exercising his veto authority. As Article I§1 makes clear, Washington is keenly aware that all just power is derived from the consent of the governed. The heart of this issue is a chilling, flagrant breach of the separation of powers that are an integral part of the authority that Washingtonians have granted the state. *See, e.g., Brown v. Owen*, 165 Wn.2d 706, 718, 206 P.3d 310, 316 (2009) (holding that "Our constitution does not contain a formal separation of powers clause. Nonetheless, the very division of our government into different branches has been presumed throughout our state's history to give rise to a vital separation of powers doctrine." (In re Salary of Juvenile Dir., 87 Wn.2d 232, 238-40, 552 P.2d 163 (1976)).

This Court said it best in State v. Rice, holding:

The separation of powers doctrine is "one of the cardinal and fundamental principles of the American constitutional system" and forms the basis of our state government. Wash. State Motorcycle Dealers Ass'n v. State, 111 Wn.2d 667, 674, 763 P.2d 442 (1988). Under Washington's constitution, governmental authority is divided into three branches—legislative, executive, and judicial—and "[e]ach branch of government wields only the power it is given." State v. Moreno, 147 Wn.2d 500, 505, 58 P.3d 265 (2002) [...] This constitutional division of government is "for the protection of individuals" against centralized authority and abuses of power.

*State v. Rice*, 174 Wn.2d 884, 900-01, 279 P.3d 849, 857 (2012) (some internal citations omitted). Here, the Governor has attempted to wield power that the people expressly took away through amending the constitution. The Governor does not have authority to veto less than a whole section of a bill. When a past Governor tried, the people of Washington rose up to say that we did not want him to have that power. *Wash. State Motorcycle Dealers Ass'n v. State*, 111 Wn.2d 667, 674, 763 P.2d 442, 446 (1988) (recounting the history of Article III§12). As this Court pointed out, the limitations on each branch are "for the protection of individuals." BIAW is asking this Court to protect its members from the Governor's overreach.

#### **B.** The Governor Ignored the Separation of Powers and Violated Article III§12 by Vetoing Subsection 8(1)(a).

Article III§12 outlines the Constitutional limitations on the Governor's legislative activity. It limits the Governor's veto power by requiring him to veto at least a whole section. Subsection 8(1)(a) was less than a whole section and the Governor vetoed it. A plainer case could not be stated. The Governor argues that the Legislature's drafting was an attempt to dissimulate his veto authority, giving him the right to veto less than the whole section. The facts do not support this conclusion, but even if they did, the Governor would still be bound by Article III § 12.

#### 1. The Governor Violated Article III § 12.

The central, indisputable fact is that the Governor did something that the constitution expressly prohibits him from doing. The constitution prohibits the governor from vetoing less than a whole section. Wash. Const. Art. III§12. The Legislature designated Subsection 8(1)(a) as less than a whole section. The Legislature's designation is ordinarily conclusive. *Wash. Legislature v. Lowry*, 131 Wn.2d 309, 320, 931 P.2d 885, 891 (1997); *CLEAN v. State of Wash.*, 130 Wn.2d 782, 928 P.2d 1054 (1996). The Court should defer to the Legislature's structural designation unless the drafting "so alters the natural sequences and division of a bill [so as] to circumvent the Governor's veto power[.]" *Eyman v. Wyman*, 191 Wn.2d 581, 607, 424 P.3d 1183 (2018) (quoting *Lowry*, 131 Wn.2d at 320) (alterations in original).

Here, the Legislature drafted a complete section, Section 8, with several subparts. The Governor vetoed Subsection 8(1)(a), leaving the

remainder of the section in disarray. This leaves confusion for those trying to apply the law and violates Wash. Const. Art. III § 12.

# 2. The Governor Cannot Show that the Legislature's Drafting Was A Palpable Attempt at Dissimulation.

The Governor has tried to justify his unconstitutional act by

blaming the Legislature. He claimed that "by structuring the contingency

language within a subsection of Section 8, the Legislature intentionally

attempted to circumvent and impede my veto authority by entangling an

unrelated unconstitutional provision within a recommendation of the task

force." CP 52-53. The Governor was relying on Washington State

Legislature v. Lowry, 131 Wn.2d 309, 931 P.2d 885 (1997), in which the

Supreme Court held that

The Legislature's designation of a section is conclusive unless it is obviously designed to circumvent the Governor's veto power and is a palpable attempt at dissimulation. But where [...] we discern legislative drafting that so alters the natural sequences and divisions of a bill to circumvent the governor's veto power, we reserve the right to strike down such maneuvers.

Lowry, 131 Wn.2d at 320.

In that case, the Governor argued that the "subsections" he vetoed were actually sections and therefore appropriate candidates for veto. The Court agreed that the Legislature's designation of subsections was disingenuous because the "Section" contained 103 subsections, which each repealed a single, distinct statute. The Court held that this bundling "alter[ed] the natural sequences and divisions of a bill to circumvent the Governor's veto power" and upheld the veto. This is something the Governor must prove, as the Court presumes that the Legislature's designations were correct. *Lowry*, 131 Wn.2d at 320.

To overcome this presumption, the Governor must meet an exacting standard. The Court has stated that standard in two different ways. In *Legislature v Lowry*, the Court stated that the section designations could be disregarded where there was a "palpable attempt at dissimulation of the Governor's power." In *Washington State Legislature v. State*, 139 Wn.2d 129, 985 P.2d 353 (1999), the Court stated it slightly differently holding that the Legislature's designation of a section is not conclusive when the designation is "obviously designed to circumvent the Governor's veto power." *State* also explained how the Court would conduct its analysis. The Court analyzed "the language in question and the operative effect," finding that in that case, those together "indicate[d] the nature of the proviso." *State*, 139 Wn.2d at 143. In other words, the text must show that the bill was designed, intentionally to circumvent the

Unlike the bill in *Lowry*, there is no evidence from the structure of HB 1579 that the legislature's designation of Subsection 8(1)(a) as a subsection was "a palpable attempt at dissimulation." The subsection is an

integral piece of the rest of Section 8, as one would expect from a part of a whole. Subsection 8(1)(a) provides direction to WDFW to charge civil penalties for violations of RCW 77.55, up to a certain amount. The rest of Section 8 gives clarity and specificity to that direction, such as Subsection 8(1)(b) which identifies which personnel within WDFW has authority to issue civil penalties. While the veto in *Lowry* altered the natural sequence, the veto here follows a natural sequence. It is a true subsection

Respondents are also unable to satisfy the standard from *Legislature*, which asks if the structure was "obviously designed to circumvent" the Governor's authority. The word "obvious" is defined as "so simple and clear as to be unmistakable" and "disappointingly simple and easy to discover or interpret." *Barrett v. Lucky Seven Saloon, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 259, 268, 96 P.3d 386, 390 (2004). Palpable is synonymous with the terms 'easily perceptible,' 'plain,' 'obvious,' and 'manifest'. *State ex rel. Pac. Power & Light Co. v. Dep't of Pub. Works*, 143 Wn.2d 67, 85, 254 P. 839, 845 (1927). The Respondents seem to acknowledge this burden, arguing that the "only plausible explanation for conditioning [Subsection 8(1)(a)] on enactment of Section 13 was to prevent the Governor from exercising his constitutional authority to veto Section 13." CP 442. They must show that there is no other plausible explanation; they have not done so.

#### 3. Even If the Legislature Was Attempting to Circumvent the Governor, He Is Still Bound By Article III§12.

The Legislature was not attempting to circumvent the Governor's power, but even if it was, the Governor was not justified in his actions. The Court has never held that where the Legislature attempts to circumvent the Governor's veto authority, Article III §12 does not apply. Instead the Court only asks if the Legislature was being disingenuous to determine whether to give deference to the Legislature's designation of Sections and Subsections. *See, e.g., Lowry,* 131 Wn.2d at 320-21 (holding that "The Legislature's designation of a section is conclusive unless it is obviously designed to circumvent the Governor's veto power[.]")

Thus, while appellant does not concede that the Legislature is guilty of artful drafting, even in a circumstance in which both the legislature and the governor are at fault, the Court should then review the text to determine where sections actually end and begin. The best articulation of this analysis resides in *Washington State Legislature v. State*, 139 Wn.2d 129, 985 P.2d 353 (1999). In that case, this Court applied *Lowry* to a veto that struck a legislative formula to establish copayment requirements for doling out financial aid. However, the veto did not strike the mandate that copayments be required. The Court held that both the Legislature and the Governor had violated the Constitution, the first by artful drafting and the second by

vetoing less than a whole proviso. After finding that the bill raised "the specter of circumvention sufficiently to disregard deferring to the Legislature's designation of [the vetoed portion] as a single and complete subsection, incapable of division[,]" the Court went on to analyze the text to determine where the true section or proviso began and ended. *Legislature*, 139 Wn.2d at 141-144. Based on the text, this Court re-drew the boundaries of the relevant provisos. The new boundaries showed that Governor Locke did not veto a whole section because the sentence mandating copayments "naturally fit together" with the vetoed copayment schedule, making them a single proviso on copayments. The Court held that the veto violated Article III § 12. *Id*.

The veto here has the same flaw. Even if linking the fee amount in Subsection 8(1)(a) to the enactment Section 13 was an attempt at dissimulation, the Governor may not veto less than a whole proviso. If the Court finds that the link was dissimulative, *Legislature* holds that the Court must then determine proper boundaries for the fine proviso. Here, the fine amounts and administration are one topic. Like the copayment proviso in *Legislature*, Section 8, mandates an action (fines) and sets out criteria for administering it (the schedule). Like the veto in *Legislature*, Governor Inslee vetoed one piece of a bill, but left a part which addresses the same

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