NO. 98119-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON, a non-profit organization

Appellant,

v.

JAY INSLEE in his official capacity as WASHINGTON STATE GOVERNOR, and the WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ALICIA O. YOUNG, WSBA 35553 TERA HEINTZ, WSBA 54921 Deputy Solicitors General

Office ID 91087 PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 360-753-6200 alicia.young@atg.wa.gov tera.heintz@atg.wa.gov

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. BIAW's Challenge to the Validity of the Governor's Veto is Not Justiciable

BIAW seeks a declaration invalidating the Governor's veto under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA), RCW 7.24. The UDJA allows persons "whose rights, status or other legal relations are affected by a statute" to "have determined any question of construction or validity arising under the . . . statute . . ." RCW 7.24.020. But rather than seek a declaration about what Chapter 290 means, or whether it is constitutional on its face or as applied, BIAW seeks to change the law's substance based on its argument that a step in the lawmaking process (the Governor's veto) was deficient. BIAW's challenge is not justiciable for two reasons. First, even if a private party like BIAW could challenge the legislative steps leading up to the enactment of Chapter 290, BIAW lacks standing to do so here, because it did not demonstrate cognizable redressable injury caused by the veto. Second, courts do not generally inquire into legislative actions preceding the enactment of a statute that is "properly signed and fair upon its face," even based on constitutionally-required procedures. In cases like this one, where neither the Legislature nor the Governor is asking the Court to review the Governor's veto, the Court should decline BIAW's request to wade into inter-branch disputes.

1. The Governor's veto is part of the lawmaking process and Chapter 290 is the law

As a preliminary matter, BIAW expresses confusion over where the law currently stands vis-à-vis the Governor's veto,⁴ but the Constitution and this Court's decisions are clear: "The Governor acts as a part of the legislature when exercising the veto power." *Petition of Washington State Emps. Ass'n*, 86 Wn.2d at 126. "[A] veto renders a legislative action as if it had not occurred." *Wash. State Legislature v. Lowry*, 131 Wn.2d 309, 330, 931 P.2d 885. The vetoed provisions do "not take effect" unless subsequently passed by a two-thirds majority of the Legislature "over the governor's objection." Const. art. III, § 12; *see also State v. Reis*, 183 Wn.2d 197, 216, 351 P.3d 127 (2015) ("The governor's veto completely removes the vetoed material from the legislation....The act 'is to be considered now just as it would have been if the vetoed provisions had never been written

⁴ See, e.g., BIAW Br. at 6 ("They are unsure what version of the law is enforceable..."), 17 ("[W]ithout the text of Subsection 8(1)(a), the law to be enforced is unclear and the validity of the veto is still be determined.").

into the bill at any stage of the proceedings. '") (quoting *Shelton Hotel Co. v. Bates*, 4 Wn.2d 498, 506, 104 P.2d 478 (1940)). Thus, "the Legislature has the final say on the Governor's veto" by either overriding it or doing nothing. *Lowry*, 131 Wn.2d at 331.

This Court has stated that it is "well aware of the rule that any portion of a bill enacted by the legislature which shall have been vetoed by the Governor, and which veto is not overridden, is to be considered exactly as if such portion of the bill had never been enacted." *Petition of Washington State Emps. Ass'n*, 86 Wn.2d at 126. And this Court further observed that any argument that it may be difficult for the Legislature to obtain two-thirds concurrence is "for the people to determine, not this court. If these arrangements become unsatisfactory or subjected to abuse, the people are capable of making desired changes." *Washington State Fed'n of State Emps., Coun. 28 v. State*, 101 Wn.2d 536, 547, 682 P.2d 869 (1984). "The 'check', as it has always been, will be the Legislature's two-thirds override." *Id.*

Here, after the Governor vetoed Sections 8(1)(a) and 13 from 2SHB 1579, the law as vetoed became Laws of 2019, Chapter 290 (codified in chapter 77.55 RCW). *See Wash. State Grange*, 153 Wn.2d at 485, ("Because the legislature did not override the governor's veto, ESB 6453, as altered by the governor's vetoes, became Laws of 2004, chapter 271."). The Legislature did not exercise its right to override that veto. BIAW need only refer to the Revised Code of Washington and the relevant agency rules to see what the law is. *See* RCW 77.55.440 (requiring WDFW to issue rules

governing civil penalties); WSR 20-11-019 (amending provisions in WAC 220-660). Thus, BIAW's professed confusion over what law applies is not well-founded and should not serve as a basis for justiciability.

2. BIAW failed to demonstrate that its members are personally and substantially harmed by the Governor's veto or that a declaratory judgment would redress their harm

Even if BIAW could expose the legislative history of Chapter 290 to judicial review, it still fails to establish justiciability or standing under the UDJA because its members⁵ do not face actual or imminent harm by the Governor's veto.

To maintain an action "under the UDJA, a party must present a justiciable controversy based on allegations of harm personal to the party that are substantial rather than speculative or abstract." *Grant Cty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419, 423 (2004).⁶ And since this case was decided on cross summary judgment motions, BIAW had the burden to support its justiciability allegations with admissible evidence sufficient to permit a reasonable trier of fact to find justiciability in order to avoid summary judgment and dismissal. CR 56; *Herron v. Tribune Pub. Co.*, 108 Wn.2d 162, 170, 736 P.2d 249 (1987)

⁵ BIAW brings this lawsuit in its associational capacity on behalf of its members. For purposes of this appeal, the Governor and the Department do not challenge that if BIAW's members have standing, BIAW has associational standing to request declaratory relief on their behalf.

⁶ As this Court has noted, the justiciability and standing requirements under the UDJA substantially overlap. *To Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411 n.5, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001)). "An actual, immediate dispute cannot be moot and must be ripe, and a party lacking a direct, substantial interest in the dispute will lack standing." *Id.* at 417. While this brief primarily discusses the concept of justiciability, it also implicates standing.

("[I]f the plaintiff, as nonmoving party, can only offer a 'scintilla' of evidence, evidence that is 'merely colorable,' or evidence that 'is not significantly probative,' the plaintiff will not defeat the motion.") (quoting *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby*, 477 U.S. 242, 249-51, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986)); see also Allan v. Univ. of Washington, 140 Wn.2d 323, 329, 997 P.2d 360 (2000) (holding at summary judgment stage, plaintiff "must demonstrate 'a factual showing of perceptible harm"") (quoting *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 566, 112 S. Ct. 2130, 119 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1992)).

Here, BIAW asserts that its members and customers are "insecure and uncertain" about WDFW's regulatory authority because of the veto, and are worse off because they could be penalized up to \$10,000 for violating the Hydraulic Code instead of \$100.⁷ BIAW Br. at 6-7, 16-24. But BIAW's claimed harms are not cognizable, and, in any event, not factually supported.

a. BIAW's claimed fears of future regulatory enforcement are too remote and hypothetical to establish concrete harm

BIAW argues that the risk that its members (and, more specifically, their customers) could be financially penalized to a greater degree for

⁷ BIAW does not claim that any of its members have been penalized under the law as vetoed, nor that they face imminent threat of enforcement. *See also Superior Asphalt & Concrete Co. Inc. v. Washington Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 121 Wn. App. 601, 606-07, 89 P.3d 316 (2004) ("Superior Asphalt had no standing to challenge the safety regulation because it had never been issued a citation."). Nor could it, because, at the time of suit, WDFW had suspended its use of penalties for enforcement until after it completes rulemaking to implement the new law. CP 126.

violating the Hydraulic Code is a basis for justiciability. Fundamentally, BIAW's asserted injury and interest here is entirely hypothetical and speculative, based on alleged uncertainty over future regulatory enforcement that may or may not ever come to pass. That is not enough to demonstrate justiciability.

Courts will not find a justiciable controversy or standing where the alleged injury is based on future contingent events. *To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 415-16, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001) (noting Court has "repeatedly refused to find a justiciable controversy where the event at issue has not yet occurred or remains a matter of speculation"); *Yakima County (West Valley) Fire Protection District No. 12 v. City of Yakima*, 122 Wn.2d 371, 858 P.2d 245 (1993) (fire district lacked standing for declaratory action nullifying annexation agreements where devaluation of property was contingent on successful future annexation that had not yet occurred); *see also Superior Asphalt*, 121 Wn. App. at 606 (absent nuisance charges, plaintiff could not show an "actual, present, and existing dispute," a "direct and substantial" interest, or a concrete injury to satisfy UDJA justiciability and standing requirements to challenge constitutionality of nuisance statute).

Federal case law governing pre-enforcement standing to challenge a statute is also instructive. A party seeking standing based on the threat of future regulatory enforcement must generally show three factors to demonstrate that a fear of future regulatory enforcement has crossed the threshold from hypothetical possibility into realistic present danger,

17

warranting judicial intervention. These three factors include whether: (1) the challenging party has a "concrete plan" to violate the law in question; (2) prosecuting authorities have given a "specific warning or threat" to initiate proceedings; and (3) there is a "history of past prosecution or enforcement under the challenged statute." *Thomas v. Anchorage Equal Rights Comm*'n, 220 F.3d 1134, 1139 (9th Cir. 2000).

BIAW has established none of these things. It has identified no concrete plans by its members at all, let alone plans that are likely to violate the Hydraulic Code. While one BIAW member speculates he will lose business if WDFW has increased fine authority, CP 185-86, BIAW introduces no evidence that any specific customer has decided to not move forward on a project because the risk of penalties for violating the Hydraulic Code are uncertain or too high. BIAW's generalized statements that customers will forego projects in the future is purely speculative.

BIAW has similarly failed to identify any specific warning or threat by WDFW to initiate proceedings against BIAW's members. Rather, the Hydraulic Code and the rules recently promulgated by WDFW show that the likelihood of future controversy remains highly speculative given the many processes in place for addressing uncertainty and encouraging voluntary compliance. For example, RCW 77.55.400 provides a process for obtaining a pre-application determination from WDFW as to whether a new project requires a hydraulic permit. For any request submitted under this new process, WDFW must issue a decision in writing that includes its supporting rationale, generally within 21 days of receiving the request. RCW 77.55.400. Additionally, the law requires WDFW to provide information and technical assistance to a project proponent whenever it determines a violation of RCW 77.55 has occurred, and it must attempt to achieve voluntary compliance before taking further remedial action. RCW 77.55.410. As WDFW provides in its rules implementing Chapter 290:

The department is responsible to help the regulated community understand how to comply. The department achieves voluntary compliance through education and technical assistance when the department advises and consults on permits, conducts compliance checks, performs on-site technical visits, or provides guidance materials written in easily understood language.

When the department cannot get voluntary compliance by issuing a correction request, the department may use a range of increasingly strict enforcement tools. This ranges from issuing notices of correction and stop work orders to penalties and, when appropriate, criminal prosecution.

WAC 220-660-480 (effective June 12, 2020). Thus, to the extent there is any ambiguity about what RCW 77.55 requires of project proponents, there are also tools to address that ambiguity that could avoid the need for a penalty altogether. The existence of these processes shows that the likelihood of future disputes or injury to BIAW is highly speculative and contingent, not concrete and present.

BIAW has similarly failed to demonstrate that WDFW has any history of past prosecution against its members under Chapter 290.

BIAW has not even identified a history of prosecution under the law existing before Chapter 290's passage.

BIAW's failure to demonstrate any of these factors underscores that its claims of injury and interest here are based on the mere existence of the entire regulating framework, not an actual dispute or a concrete injury stemming from the Governor's veto of Section 8(1)(a). BIAW fails to establish justiciability or standing as a matter of law.

b. BIAW's claimed uncertainty "in the permitting process" is not caused by the veto and would not be redressed by a favorable decision

BIAW argues that Chapter 290 harms them because it "makes the permitting process less clear," subjecting their members and clients to "confusion." BIAW Br. at 6. They submitted declarations below about Chapter 290's application to single family residences; alleged uncertainty arising from this Court's decision in *Spokane County v. Washington Dep't of Fish & Wildlife*, 192 Wn.2d 453, 430 P.3d 655 (2018), and overlapping regulatory authority of state, federal, and local jurisdictions; and objections to WDFW's authority to deny permits. CP 181-87. But all of this alleged uncertainty is about other parts of Chapter 290 as enacted into law, completely unaffected by the Governor's veto of Section 8(1)(a). None of this alleged uncertainty would be redressed by a declaratory judgment declaring the veto invalid.

Prior to being vetoed, Section 8(1)(a) said nothing about when a permit is required or granted, so its veto could likewise not impact that issue.

Section 8(1)(a) simply provided two alternative maximum penalty amounts that WDFW could potentially adopt and impose after rulemaking, contingent on whether Section 13 became law. Having (or lacking) a maximum penalty amount does not change uncertainty claimed by BIAW: that multiple governmental bodies may have overlapping regulatory authority, that certain contractors may not be sure whether their project requires a permit without involving WDFW, or that permits may not ultimately be granted for some projects. Likewise, the presence or absence of a maximum penalty amount does not impact whether WDFW is required to issue a permit to single-family homes. *See* CP 182-83 ¶¶ 9-14. Even if such uncertainty is "intensified when the cost of making a mistake in the HPA process goes up," as BIAW testified (CP 182), that does not mean that the potential for higher penalties has caused any of this uncertainty. In any event, the declaratory judgment BIAW requests will not remedy this confusion.

Additionally, "[b]usiness uncertainties that arise from regulatory decisions are not the kind of concrete and particularized injuries sufficient to establish an injury in fact." *Gerber Prods. Co. v. Perdue*, 254 F. Supp. 3d 74, 81 (D.D.C. 2017). Rather, "uncertainties' regarding the future regulatory and competitive environment . . . are highly nebulous in both character and degree[.]" *ViroPharma v. Hamburg*, 777 F. Supp. 2d 140, 147 (D.D.C. 2011), *aff'd*, 471 F. App'x 1 (D.C. Cir. 2012). Here, while one BIAW member states anecdotally he will lose business if WDFW has increased fine authority, BIAW introduces no evidence that any specific

customer has decided to not move forward on a project because the risk of penalties for violating the Hydraulic Code are uncertain or too high. BIAW's overgeneralized statements that customers will do so in the future is completely speculative and not cognizable. There is no reason to assume that a client's decision on whether to move forward on a lawful project will depend on whether *violating the law* will be subject to a \$100 penalty or a \$10,000 penalty. The Court should assume that clients will want to follow the law and have properly permitted projects regardless of what the risk is for violating environmental laws.

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